
1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

JON M. SANDS
Federal Public Defender
District of Arizona
850 W. Adams Street, Suite 201
Phoenix, Arizona  85007
Telephone:  (602) 382-2700

MILAGROS A. CISNEROS
State Bar No. 020410
Asst. Federal Public Defender
Attorney for Defendant
milagros_cisneros@fd.org

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

DISTRICT OF ARIZONA

United States of America,

Plaintiff,

v.

Ozzy Carl Watchman,

Defendant.

No. CR 08-1202-PCT-DGC

MOTION TO DISMISS

Ozzy Carl Watchman, through undersigned counsel, respectfully submits

the following motion to dismiss the indictment in this case.  This motion is supported

by the attached memorandum of points and authorities, and by the affidavit of

Kathleen Bowman, which is attached to the motion.

In addition, Mr. Watchman notifies this Court that, today, an identical

motion is being filed in a separate case that is also assigned to this Court, i.e., United

States v. Brandon Begay, No. CR 08-1203-PCT-DGC.

. . .

. . .

. . .

. . .
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Excludable delay under 18 U.S.C. § 3161(h)(1)(F) and (8)(A) will occur

as a result of this motion or from an order based thereon.

Respectfully submitted: December 19, 2008.

JON M. SANDS
Federal Public Defender

 s/Milagros A. Cisneros                   
MILAGROS A. CISNEROS 
Asst. Federal Public Defender 
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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

I. Statement of the Case.   

Ozzy Carl Watchman, an enrolled member of the Navajo Nation, is

charged with failing to update his registration as required by the Sex Offender

Registration and Notification Act (SORNA), at 18 U.S.C. § 2250(a).  He is alleged

to have left the New Beginnings Treatment Center in Tucson, Arizona, which was his

registered address.  He is further alleged to have been residing in Sawmill, Arizona,

where he was arrested, and failing to update his registration in accordance with the

requirements of SORNA. 

 Mr. Watchman seeks dismissal of the indictment on several grounds.

First, SORNA has not been implemented by the Navajo Nation, of which Mr.

Watchman is a member, and where he was residing at the time of his arrest.  Second,

SORNA does not apply to Mr. Watchman because the Attorney General of the United

States has not specified its applicability to persons required to update registration

pursuant to SORNA, prior to its implementation in a particular jurisdiction.  

Third, SORNA does not apply to Mr. Watchman because its predecessor

statute, the Wetterling Act, 42 U.S.C. § 14071, remains in effect until July 26, 2009.

Fourth, it would be impossible for Mr. Watchman to comply with SORNA because

Arizona still has a Wetterling Act registration statute with registration procedures

incompatible with SORNA.  Fifth, punishing Mr. Watchman for violating a statute

with which it is impossible for him to comply violates due process.  Sixth, SORNA

sets forth an affirmative defense–at 18 U.S.C. § 2250(b)–in a case like Mr.

Watchman’s, where uncontrollable circumstances have prevented him from

complying with SORNA.

. . .
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Seventh, Congress violated the non-delegation doctrine by allowing the

Attorney General to specify whether SORNA would apply retroactively.  Eighth, the

Attorney General implemented a rule specifying SORNA’s retroactive application in

violation of the Administrative Procedure Act (APA), 5 U.S.C. § 553.  Ninth,

SORNA forces states to register sex offenders whether or not they voluntarily comply

with SORNA’s requirements, in violation of the Tenth Amendment.  Finally, Mr.

Watchman seeks dismissal because the indictment seeks to punish him under a law

which does not yet apply to him, in violation of the Ex Post Facto clause.  

II. Introduction to the Sex Offender Registration and Notification Act.

The Adam Walsh Child Protection and Safety Public Law 109-248, was

enacted by Congress on July 27, 2006.  Title I established the Sex Offender

Registration and Notification Act (SORNA). 42 U.S.C. §§ 16911, et seq.  SORNA

was enacted to succeed and enhance the registration requirements of the Jacob

Wetterling Crimes Against Children and Sexually Violent Offender Registration

Program (Wetterling Act), 42 U.S.C. § 14071.  SORNA expanded the offenses for

which registration was required, the information required for such registration, the

frequency of reporting, and the duration of reporting.

The Wetterling Act was originally enacted in 1994.  States were given

three years to establish a sex offender registration program in compliance with the

Act, or face a loss of 10% of funds allocated to the state under the Edward Byrne

Memorial State and Local Law Enforcement Assistance Program (Byrne Allotments).

42 U.S.C. § 14071(g).  As a consequence of the Wetterling Act, every state developed

a list of qualified crimes against children and established a sex offender registry.

These were in place  prior to the enactment of SORNA.  The information collected

by the states was reported to the Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI), which set up
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a national database of the information. 42 U.S.C. § 14071(b)(2).  Certain knowing

violations of the registration requirements under the Wetterling Act were punishable

by up to a year in prison and up to ten years for a second offense. 42 U.S.C. §

14072(I).  

The requirements and penalties under SORNA are more significant.

SORNA expanded the range of crimes that require registration and established three

groups, or “tiers,” of sex offenders based on the seriousness of the prior conviction.

42 U.S.C. § 16911.  SORNA also requires periodic in-person verification, which

increases in frequency depending on whether the offender is categorized as Tier I, II,

or III. 42 U.S.C. § 16916.  If states fail to establish a SORNA-qualified registry, they

will face a ten percent reduction in their Byrne Allotment. 42 U.S.C. § 16925.  States

have three years (until July 27, 2009) to comply with SORNA. 42 U.S.C. § 16924.

Finally, SORNA increased the criminal penalty for failure to register to a maximum

of ten years imprisonment. 18 U.S.C. § 2250.  To provide guidance to jurisdictions

in implementing the new SORNA requirements, the Attorney General has issued Sex

Offender Sentencing, Monitoring, Apprehending, Registering, and Tracking

(SMART) Guidelines, 73 Fed. Reg. 38030, and set up a SMART office within the

Department of Justice, 72 Fed. Reg. 30210.

III. The Navajo Nation has no Sex Offender Registry. 

Tribal jurisdictions were left out of the Wetterling Act entirely.  Tribal

convictions for sex offenses were not included in the registration requirements, and

tribal jurisdictions were not required to create registration systems, nor were they

eligible for grants available to states for doing so–in fact, Congress did not address

Indian tribes at all in the Wetterling Act.  Virginia Davis & Kevin Washburn, Sex

Offender Registration in Indian Country, 6:3 Ohio St. J. Crim. L. 3, 8 (2008).  
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 Any tribe in a Public Law 280 jurisdiction, and any tribe that did not elect to
implement SORNA “by resolution . . . of the tribal council or comparable
governmental body,” within one year of SORNA’s enactment, was treated as if it
had delegated authority to the state or states in which it was located.  42 U.S.C.
16927.  

6

The Wetterling Act, therefore, only resulted in state sex offender

registration laws.  In Smith v. Doe, 538 U.S. 84 (2003), the Supreme Court held, in

part, that Alaska’s Wetterling Act statute was regulatory rather than punitive in

nature.  State laws “have no force” over Indians in Indian territory, Worcester v.

Georgia, 31 U.S. (6 Pet.) 515, 561 (1832), and state courts cannot exercise civil

jurisdiction that interferes with tribal jurisdiction involving tribal members on the

reservation.  Williams v. Lee, 358 U.S. 217 (1959).  Because states have no regulatory

power over Indian lands, state Wetterling Act sex offender requirements do not apply

to Indians on Indian lands.  Virginia Davis & Kevin Washburn, Sex Offender

Registration in Indian Country, 6:3 Ohio St. J. Crim. L. 3, 10 (2008).  This was the

issue litigated in State v. Jones, 729 N.W.2d 1 (Minn. 2007).  The Jones decision is

likely responsible for drawing Congressional attention, in SORNA, to what had come

to be seen as a hole in the nation’s ability to track sex offenders.  Id. at 11, 13, n.50.

SORNA attempts to fill the jurisdictional gap in tribal lands by requiring

tribes to either (1) elect to implement SORNA’s requirements, or (2) delegate the

authority to maintain a SORNA registry to the state and allow the state to enforce

SORNA’s requirements within the tribal lands.   42 U.S.C. § 16927(a)(1).  As1

supported by the attached affidavit of Kathleen Bowman, the Public Defender for the

Navajo Nation, the Navajo Nation Council passed a resolution electing to implement

SORNA’s requirements.  (Exhibit A).  The Navajo Nation had previously enacted
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legislation providing for a sex offender registry, but the registry apparently did not

comply with SORNA’s requirements.  Id.  The Navajo Nation has created a task force

to implement its sex offender registry in such a way that it will comply with

SORNA’s requirements.  Id.  To date, the Navajo Nation does not have any sex

offender registry.  Id.    

Because the Navajo Nation has exercised its authority under section

16927 to become a SORNA jurisdiction, the SMART guidelines provide that

registration of offenders in the tribe’s jurisdiction, like Mr. Watchman, will not occur

until the tribe implements SORNA:

...a person convicted of a sex offense by an Indian tribal
court in, e.g., 2005 may have not been registered near the
time of sentencing or release because the tribe had not yet
established any sex offender registration program at the
time. If the person remains under supervision when the
tribe implements SORNA, registration will be required by
the SORNA standards...

73 Fed. Reg. 38063 (emphasis added).  Thus, the Attorney General recognizes that

SORNA does not require Mr. Watchman to register with the Navajo Nation until the

Navajo Nation implements SORNA.  

IV. The Attorney General Has Not Issued a Rule About SORNA’s
Applicability to Persons Required to Register Before Its Implementation
In a Particular Jurisdiction.

Although the Adam Walsh Act was enacted on July 26, 2006, Congress

did not identify a date upon which the SORNA provisions would become effective,

other than to state that the deadline for implementation in a jurisdiction is July 27,

2009.  42 U.S.C. § 16924(a).  Instead, Congress delegated to the Attorney General the

authority to specify the retroactivity of SORNA to persons (a) “convicted before July

27, 2006,” (b) “convicted before [SORNA’s] implementation in a particular
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The Attorney General issued the interim rule without providing a period for
notice and comment in violation of the Administrative Procedure Act, as set
forth in Section X, infra.  

8

jurisdiction,” and (c) “unable” to initially register under § 16913(b).  42 U.S.C. §

16913(d).  The delegation of this authority was unconstitutional.

The Attorney General has issued an interim rule purporting to make

SORNA applicable to persons convicted before July 27, 2006, see 27 C.F.R. § 72.3,

but no regulation has been issued making SORNA applicable to persons like Mr.

Watchman who were convicted before the Act is implemented in a particular state.2

The SMART Guidelines make clear that SORNA does not apply to this class of

offenders, and that the duty to register arises only after the jurisdiction implements

SORNA:  

With respect to sex offenders with pre-SORNA or pre-
SORNA-implementation convictions who remain in the
prisoner, supervision, or registered sex offender
populations at the time of implementation... jurisdictions
should endeavor to register them with SORNA as quickly
as possible. . . In other words, sex offenders in these . . .
populations . . . must be registered by the jurisdiction when
it implements the SORNA requirements in its system.

73 Fed. Reg. 38063-64.  (emphasis added).  

As noted in the SMART guidelines, a jurisdiction has not implemented

SORNA until it has (1) “carrie[d] out the requirements of SORNA as interpreted and

explained in these Guidelines,” and (2) the SMART Office has determined that it has

done so.  73 Fed. Reg. at 38047.  Arizona currently has not implemented SORNA.

Accordingly, at this time, individuals have no duty under SORNA to register or to

update their registration in Arizona.  That is not to say that Arizona or Federal law 

. . .
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In other words, an individual governed by this procedure who moves has to

9

does not require an individual to register or update registration information, as

discussed in Section V, infra.  

V. SORNA is not Applicable Because the Wetterling Act Remains in Effect
Until July 26, 2009.

Section 129 of the Adam Walsh Act–“Repeal of Predecessor Sec

Offender Program”–states that the Wetterling Act will be repealed on the deadline for

implementation of SORNA.  Adam Walsh Child Protection and Safety Act of 2006,

Pub. L. No. 109-248, § 129, 120 Stat. 587, 600.  Thus, despite the fact that no

jurisdiction in the United States has yet been able to implement SORNA, there is still

a law that applies.  The fact that the Wetterling Act is not repealed until the deadline

for SORNA’s implementation illustrates that Congress anticipated that SORNA

would not apply until implemented in each jurisdiction.  Thus, SORNA does not yet

apply in Arizona, although the Wetterling Act still does.   

Under the Wetterling Act, the procedure for updating a registration after

a change in address is governed by state law,  for individuals living in states with

approved registration systems.  42 U.S.C. § 14071(b)(4).  In these states, any failure

to register or to keep a registration current is punishable by state law, not federal law,

and no range of punishment is specified.  42 U.S.C. § 14071(d).  Sex offenders living

in states without federally-approved sex offender registry systems are required to

instead register with the FBI. 42 U.S.C. § 14072(c).  Individuals required to register

with the FBI under section 14072(c) are required to notify the FBI within 10 days of

establishing a new residence.  42 U.S.C. § 14072(g)(2).   Establishing a new

residence is defined as “resid[ing] for not less than 10 days.”   42 U.S.C. §3
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Sex Offender Registration and Notification, 73 Fed. Reg. 38030, 38056 (July
2, 2008) (requiring SORNA jurisdictions to obtain information regarding the
address for any place where a sex offender will be lodging, even temporarily,
for seven days or more).  
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14072(g)(1).  Any person registered in a state or FBI sex offender registry who moves

from one state to another is required to register with the FBI and the new state of

residence, within 10 days of the move.  42 U.S.C. § 14072(g)(3).  The only federal

offense under the Wetterling Act is a penalty for failure to register with the FBI as

required by sections 14072(g)(2) and (3), or a failure to register after moving from

one state to another as required by section  14072(g)(3).  42 U.S.C. § 14072(I).  A

first offense federal Wetterling Act violation is a misdemeanor, a second or

subsequent violation is punishable by not more than 10 years.  Id.  There is no

guideline for this offense.  

VI. It is Impossible for Mr. Watchman to Comply with SORNA’s
Requirements.

A. Arizona Has a Wetterling Act Registration Statute and Has Not
Implemented SORNA.

Arizona’s current registry statute, Ariz. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 13-3821, and

its  updating statute, Ariz. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 13-3822, both comply with the

Wetterling Act, but not with SORNA.  The requirements for a SORNA system differ

from those of a Wetterling Act system in many ways, but the most significant

differences for purposes of the instant motion are the procedures for updating a

registration.  Under Arizona law, a person required to register as a sex offender must

register with the sheriff in their local county within ten days after entering and

remaining in any county in Arizona.  Ariz. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 13-3821.  A person who

. . .
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moves out of the county in which he is registered must then notify, in writing, the

sheriff of that county, within 72 hours.  Ariz. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 13-3822. 

Because these procedures do not follow the requirements for a sex

offender under SORNA, compliance with the Arizona procedures in place would have

no bearing on whether or not a sex offender was compliant with SORNA.  An

individual could comply to the fullest extent with Arizona’s provisions, and still

violate SORNA, as illustrated below.  

B. SORNA Has Distinct Requirements for Updating Registration.

Under SORNA, an individual who changes his residence must appear in

person within 3 business days in the (new, if different) jurisdiction in which he

resides, to report the change in the information required for the registry.  42 U.S.C.

§ 16913(c).  SORNA jurisdictions must require registrants to inform them, in person,

if they intend to move out of the jurisdiction.  National Guidelines for Sex Offender

Registration and Notification, 73 Fed. Reg. 38030, 38065 (July 2, 2008).  Any

jurisdiction so informed that a registrant will be relocating to another jurisdiction

must immediately notify that other jurisdiction by electronic forwarding.  Id.

(emphasis added).

Any failure by a sex offender to comply with the rules established by the

SORNA jurisdiction shall be reported to “the Attorney General and appropriate law

enforcement agencies,” 42 U.S.C. § 16922, and sex offenders who violate registration

requirements “shall be deemed a fugitive” and may be apprehended by the United

States Marshal’s Service, 42 U.S.C. § 16941.  

. . .

. . .

. . .
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C. It is Impossible for Mr. Watchman to Comply with SORNA’s
Requirements.

At present, as it was at the time of the alleged offense, it is impossible

for anyone, Mr. Watchman included, to “update a registration as required by the Sex

Offender Registration and Notification Act”, 18 U.S.C. § 2250(a)(3), because

SORNA has not yet been implemented in any jurisdiction.  Even if this court

determines that Mr. Watchman had an obligation to register and update his

registration under section 2250, it would have been impossible for Mr. Watchman to

lawfully do so within the current framework of sex offender registration laws in

Arizona and the non-existent registration laws of the Navajo Nation.  As previously

described, there are significant differences between the SORNA procedures an

individual must follow in updating a residential address, and the Arizona procedures

currently in place that comply with the Wetterling Act.  

Because Arizona has not implemented the SORNA procedures, it is

currently not possible for any sex offender in Arizona who wishes to move to out of

his county, to comply with SORNA’s requirements.  As previously mentioned, the

SMART guidelines indicate that one of SORNA’s requirements is that a registrant

appear in person and notify the registration jurisdiction if he intends to move out of

the jurisdiction.  Mr. Watchman would have had to appear at the Pima County

Sheriff’s Office (Pima), and inform them of his intent to move to the Navajo Nation

(Navajo).  Arizona has not yet implemented a procedure for such a notification;

current Arizona law only provides for the individual to notify the registration

jurisdiction in writing after the move.  Although the particular SMART guideline in

question may be a requirement imposed on SORNA jurisdictions (Pima) and not the

registrant (Mr. Watchman), in practice it would be a requirement on the offender to
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avoid arrest and prosecution.  Pima would not have allowed Mr. Watchman to make

such an appearance because the procedure is not yet in place; furthermore, Pima

would not have been able to inform Navajo of Mr. Watchman’s  plan to move to

Navajo according to the SORNA procedure, because that procedure is not in place yet

either, and because Navajo does not currently have any sex offender registry system

in place.  If Navajo did have a system in place, under SORNA, Mr. Watchman’s

unannounced arrival would require his arrest and prosecution for failing to comply

with SORNA’s requirements.   

The SORNA requirements under the SMART guidelines would always

result in a jurisdiction having advance notice of the coming arrival of an individual

registered in another jurisdiction.  Mr. Watchman’s surprise appearance in Navajo

jurisdiction would set off an investigation of a SORNA violation.  Navajo would look

up Mr. Watchman’s information in the registry, and see that he was registered in

Pima.  Because Arizona law does not provide for notification of the previous

jurisdiction until after the move is complete, even if Navajo contacted Pima directly,

Pima would not be able to confirm that Mr. Watchman was moving to Navajo,

because Pima would not be notified yet.  Pima would only be able to confirm that Mr.

Watchman was supposed to be present within Pima’s jurisdiction.  SORNA

jurisdictions are required to treat any violator of SORNA requirements as a fugitive.

Because Mr. Watchman would be present  and obviously not in compliance with

SORNA, he would be arrested and prosecuted for SORNA violations.  

Even if Mr. Watchman was able to convince the new SORNA

jurisdiction (Navajo) to allow him to register and not arrest him, he would still not be

in compliance with Arizona’s Wetterling Act statute, because that statute would

require him to appear in person in the Apache County Sheriff’s office within 10 days
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of moving to the Navajo Nation.  Because the states have no regulatory authority over

Indians in Indian territory, Mr. Watchman could not be held liable in Arizona state

court for this failure.  Because Mr. Watchman would not be required to register with

the FBI under section 14072(g) of the Wetterling Act, he would also not be subject

to any federal penalty.

As previously mentioned, the Navajo Nation does not have any registry

in place.  As such, the only possible place for Mr. Watchman to register would be the

Apache County Sheriff’s office, as provided for in Arizona’s current Wetterling Act

law.  If Mr. Watchman did appear in person and register in the Apache County

Sheriff’s office, he would still be in violation of SORNA, because the Navajo Nation,

not Apache County, is the SORNA jurisdiction implicated by Mr. Watchman’s move.

One of the major purposes of SORNA was for tribal jurisdictions to assume authority

over registration of tribal members, which is precisely what the Navajo Nation is

endeavoring to do.  Therefore, it would defeat the purpose of SORNA to require a

tribal member living on the lands of a tribe authorized to implement SORNA to

register with the state, rather than with the Tribe.  

VII. Punishing Mr. Watchman Under a Statute it is Impossible to Comply With
Violates Due Process.

Because the procedures do not yet exist for Mr. Watchman to comply

with SORNA, it is impossible for him to be in compliance.  SORNA explicitly

provides that the Navajo Nation is the only jurisdiction in which Mr. Watchman could

have registered.  There is no mechanism by which Mr. Watchman could register in

the Navajo Nation because the Navajo Nation has not yet implemented SORNA, or

any sex offender registration program.  Criminalizing the failure to do something that

is impossible to do violates the Due Process Clause guarantee of fundamental
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fairness.  United States v. Dalton, 960 F.2d 121, 124 (10th Cir. 1992).  Since it is

impossible for Mr. Watchman to register, punishing him for failing to register would

violate his due process rights.  

VIII. The 18 U.S.C. § 2250(b) Affirmative Defense Applies to this Case Because
Uncontrollable Circumstances Prevented Mr. Watchman from
Complying.

Mr. Watchman did not update his registration “as required by the Sex

Offender Registration and Notification Act”, 18 U.S.C. § 2250(a)(3), because

“uncontrollable circumstances prevented [him] from complying.”  It is uncontrollable

that Mr. Watchman is an Indian.  It uncontrollable that the Navajo Nation, of which

Mr. Watchman is an enrolled member, exercised its authority to become a SORNA

jurisdiction.  It uncontrollable that the Navajo Nation has not yet implemented

SORNA, or any sex offender registry.  These are the circumstances under which Mr.

Watchman was unable to comply with the requirement that he update his registration

under SORNA.  Since all of these circumstances are uncontrollable, the affirmative

defense set forth in 18 U.S.C. § 2250(b) applies to Mr. Watchman’s case, and the

indictment must be dismissed.  

IX. 42 U.S.C. § 16913(d), Allowing the Attorney General to Make the Act
Retroactive Violates the Non-Delegation Doctrine.

Even if Mr. Watchman is subject to SORNA and had a duty to register

under the terms of the Act, the Act is unconstitutional.  By delegating to the Attorney

General the broad authority to specify SORNA’s applicability to offenders convicted

before the passage of the Act, before SORNA’s implementation, and before the are

initially able to register, Congress violated the non-delegation doctrine.  See 42

U.S.C. § 16913(d).  

. . .
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In Mistretta, unlike here, Congress gave the Sentencing Commission very
specific and detailed guidance on how to promulgate the Sentencing
Guidelines. Id. at 374. Thus, the Supreme Court found that Congress did not
delegate its legislative duties to the Executive. Id.

16

“Congress is manifestly not permitted to abdicate or transfer to others the

legislative functions with which it is [constitutionally] vested.”  Panama Refining Co.

v. Ryan, 293 U.S. 388, 421 (1935).  This “non-delegation doctrine is rooted in the

principle of separation of powers that underlies our tripartite system of Government.”

Mistretta v. United States, 488 U.S. 361, 371 (1989).  Although the non-delegation

doctrine does not prevent Congress from obtaining the assistance of its coordinate

branches, it can do so only if Congress gives clear guidance to the executive branch

as to the intent of the legislation. Id. at 372-73. This means that Congress must

“clearly delineate[] the general policy, the public agency which is to apply it, and the

boundaries of this delegated authority.” Id. at 372-73 (citation and quotation

omitted).   In both Panama Refining Co., 293 U.S. 421, and Schechter Poultry Corp.4

v. United States, 295 U.S. 495 (1935), the Supreme Court held that Congress had

unconstitutionally authorized the Executive to make laws because “Congress had

failed to articulate any policy or standard that would serve to confine the discretion

of the authorities to whom Congress delegated power.”  Mistretta, 488 U.S. at 374 ,

n.7; see Panama Refining Co., 293 U.S. at 421(Congress unconstitutionally, without

any guidance, authorized the Executive to prohibit the transportation of excess

petroleum, subject to fine and imprisonment); Schechter, 295 U.S. at 495 (Congress

unconstitutionally authorized the Executive to prescribe codes of fair competition, the

violation of which would be a misdemeanor).

. . .
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Similarly, in SORNA, Congress failed to articulate any policy to guide

the Attorney General on the retroactivity of the Act.  Congress gave no guidance to

the Attorney General as to whether all individuals who were convicted of sex

offenses prior to the Act should be subject to SORNA, regardless of the remoteness

of their offenses, when they completed their sentences, or the nature of their offenses.

Instead, Congress gave the Attorney General sole discretion to determine who should

be subject to SORNA and who should not.  In unbridled fashion, Congress handed

the Attorney General the awesome power of legislating the breadth of the Act. This

is no small delegation because a retroactive sex offender law can ruin families,

subject persons to job loss, harassment, homelessness, and violence.  It can threaten

public safety by destabilizing the lives of those posted on the Internet, creating a risk

of recidivism in those who would not otherwise recidivate, and making it more

difficult for authorities to keep track of and supervise those who would. See, e.g.,

Richard Roesler, Sex Offenders Without Addresses Throw Notification System for a

Loop, Spokesman Review (Spokane), September 6, 2005.  See also NACDL, Sex

O f f e n d e r  R e s o u r c e s ,  a v a i l a b l e  a t

http://www.nacdl.org/__85256BE4005CBECB.nsf/0/DBD8F2CC2BD6E8998525

70D6005223A7?Open; Hanson, R. Karl & Morton-Bourgon, Kelly, Predictors of

Sexual Recidivism: An Updated Meta  Analysis (2004); Association for the Treatment

of Sex Offenders, The Registration and Community Notification of the Adult Sex

Offender at 3 (2005); Tewksbury, Richard, Collateral Consequences of Sex Offender

Registration, Journal of Contemporary Criminal Justice (2005), available at

http://ccj.sagepub.com; Human Rights Watch, No Easy Answers: Sex Offender Laws

in the US (2007), available at http://hrw.org/reports/2007/us0907.  If Congress

intends any law, particularly one like this, to have retroactive effect, it must follow
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the path charted in the Constitution.  Here, Congress explicitly handed this

quintessentially legislative function to an official in the Executive Branch charged

with law enforcement.  As such, Congress  abdicated its proper role and violated the

separation of powers.

X. The Attorney General’s Regulation Retroactively Applying SORNA Was
Promulgated Without “Notice and Comment” and Violates the
Administrative Procedure Act.

The February 28, 2007 regulation retroactively applying SORNA to all

persons convicted of sex offenses prior to the Act’s enactment on July 27, 2006 was

issued in violation of the Administrative Procedure Act (APA), 5 U.S.C. § 553,

because the Attorney General failed to provide notice to the public and a comment

period, as required by 5 U.S.C. § 553(d), before the rule became effective. The APA

normally requires agencies to publish a proposed rule in the Federal Register and give

interested parties the opportunity to submit comments and other relevant material at

least 30 days before it becomes effective. 5 U.S.C. § 553(d).

However, the APA permits agencies to enact rules without a notice and

comment period for “good cause” where it is “impractical, unnecessary, or contrary

to the public interest.” 5 U.S.C. § 553(b).  The “ good cause” exception is to be

narrowly construed and only reluctantly countenanced.  The exception is not an

escape clause; its use should be limited to emergency situations.” Utility Solid Waste

Activities Group v. Environmental Protection Agency, 236 F.3d 749, 754 (D.C. Cir.

2001) (omitting citations and quotations).

Here, the Attorney General erroneously relied upon the “good cause”

exception in forgoing the public “notice and comment” period.  The Attorney General

claimed that notice and comment was “impractical, unnecessary, and contrary to

public interest.” 72 Fed. Reg. at 8896.  In support of his assertion, the Attorney
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General stated that the “immediate effectiveness of the rule is necessary to eliminate

any possible uncertainty about the applicability of the Act’s requirements.” 72 Fed.

Reg. at 8896.  Moreover, the Attorney General explained that “[d]elay in the

implementation of [the] rule would impede the effective registration of such sex

offenders and would impair immediate efforts to protect the public from sex offenders

through prosecution and the imposition of criminal sanctions.” 72 Fed. Reg. at 8896.

These assertions have no basis even when evaluated against the Attorney

General’s own manual interpreting the “good cause” exception under the APA.

According to the Attorney General’s Manual, a 30-day public notice and comment

period is “impracticable” under the APA when “an agency finds that due and timely

execution of its functions would be impeded by the notice otherwise required in [§

553].” Utility Solid Waste Activities Group, 236 F.3d at 754 (citing Attorney

General’s Manual on the Administrative Procedure Act (1947) at 30-31).  Here, a 30-

day waiting period could not have delayed registrations or impeded the functioning

of law enforcement agencies: the states are not obligated to comply with SORNA

until at least July, 2009. See 42 U.S.C. § 16924. More than a year after SORNA’s

enactment, states–including Arizona–have no mechanism in place to register sex

offenders under SORNA.  Moreover, the Attorney General’s regulation provides no

guidance on how states are to register sex offenders prior to implementation.

Forgoing the 30-day waiting period did nothing to change this reality.  Accordingly,

a  notice and comment period was not “impracticable.” 

Similarly, a notice and comment period was not “contrary to the public

interest.”  The Attorney General’s Manual provides that this ground is satisfied when

“the interest of the public would be defeated by any requirement of advance notice.”

Utility Solid Waste Activities Group, 236 F.3d at 754 (citing Attorney General’s
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Manual at 31).  For the reasons already noted, a waiting period would not have

compromised the purported public interest here (expediting registrations), since the

Attorney General’s regulation plainly fails to achieve this result.

Finally, the notice and comment period was not “unnecessary.” The

Attorney General’s manual explains that this term refers to “the issuance of a minor

rule in which the public is not particularly interested.” Id. (citing Attorney General’s

Manual at 31); see also South Carolina v. Block, 558 F. Supp. 1004, 1016 (D.S.C.

1983) (“unnecessary” exception is “confined to those situations in which the

administrative rule is a routine determination, insignificant in nature and impact, and

inconsequential to the industry and to the public.”).  Certainly, an all-encompassing

rule that purports to make SORNA retroactive to all offenders who ever committed

a sex offense fails to meet this definition of “unnecessary.” 

For the reasons noted, the Attorney General had no “good cause” to

excuse the APA’s notice and comment period.  Thus, the rule should be invalidated.

See Nat’l Org. Of Veterans’ Advocates, Inc. v. Sec’y. of Veterans Affairs, 260 F.3d

1365, 1375 (Fed. Cir. 2001) (“Failure to allow notice and comment, where required,

is grounds for invalidating the rule.” ) (citing Auer v. Robbins, 519 U.S. 452, 459

(1997)).

XI. To the Extent That SORNA Forces States to Register Sex Offenders
Before They Have an Opportunity to Voluntarily Comply with the Law,
the Act Violates the Tenth Amendment.

As previously discussed, SORNA does not impose a duty upon sex

offenders to register in jurisdictions where SORNA has yet to be implemented.  In

turn, states have no obligation to register sex offenders until they implement SORNA.

However, if this Court finds that SORNA forces Arizona to register sex offenders 

. . .
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before it has an opportunity to voluntarily comply with SORNA, then the Act violates

the Tenth Amendment of the Constitution.

It is well settled that the Tenth Amendment prohibits the federal

government from commandeering state officials into enacting or administering

federal law.  Printz v. United States, 521 U.S. 898, 935 (1997).  Here, SORNA gives

the states until July, 2009 to implement SORNA. 42 U.S.C. § 16924.  Although

Congress has provided that those states who do not implement SORNA by this

deadline will lose a percentage of their federal funding, 42 U.S.C. § 16925(a), this

contingency does not render SORNA void under the Tenth Amendment.  The

Spending Clause, U.S. Const. art. I, § 8, cl. 1, permits Congress to “condition[]

receipt of federal moneys upon compliance by the recipient with federal statutory and

administrative directives.” South Dakota v. Dole, 483 U.S. 203 (1987) (citation and

quotation omitted).  Nonetheless, if SORNA requires states to register sex offenders

now, then this forces states, like Arizona, to accept federally-required sex offender

registrations before they have an opportunity to choose to adopt the SORNA

provisions voluntarily. This is exactly the type of commandeering that the Tenth

Amendment prohibits.

The Supreme Court’s opinion in Printz, 521 U.S. 898, provides helpful

guidance here.  In Printz, the Court invalidated a law requiring local law enforcement

officials to conduct background checks of prospective handgun purchasers.  The

Court held that “[t]he Federal Government may neither issue directives requiring the

states to address particular problems, nor command the States’ officers, or those of

their political subdivisions, to administer or enforce a federal regulatory program.”

521 U.S. at 935.  The local officials in Printz are analogous to the law enforcement

officials who run state sex offender registries.  Just as Congress cannot compel law
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enforcement to conduct federally-mandated background checks, it cannot compel

local law enforcement to accept registrations from federally-mandated sex offender

programs.

XII. Punishing Mr. Watchman for Violating a Law that Does Not Yet Apply
Violates the Ex Post Facto Clause.

Punishing Mr. Watchman for failing to update under SORNA–a law not

yet applicable to him–violates the Ex Post Facto Clause of the Constitution.  See U.S.

Const., art. I, § 9, cl. 3.  In Weaver v. Graham, 450 U.S. 24 (1981), the Supreme

Court explained that the Ex Post Facto Clause prohibits punishment of a defendant

“for an act which was not punishable at the time it was committed.” 450 U.S. 24, 28.

The Court reasoned:  “Critical to relief under the Ex Post Facto Clause is not an

individual’s right to less punishment, but the lack of fair notice and governmental

restraint when . . . punishment [is increased] beyond what was prescribed when the

crime was consummated.”  Id. at 30-31.  Because the Attorney General’s rule on

retroactivity was invalid, and because it does not address SORNA’s applicability to

individuals prosecuted for failing to update registration under SORNA before

SORNA is implemented in a jurisdiction, SORNA did not yet apply to Mr. Watchman

when the alleged failure to update occurred.  Punishing Mr. Watchman for failing to

update under SORNA when he had no duty to register directly violates this principle.

. . .

. . .

. . .

. . .

. . .

. . .
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XIII. Conclusion.

For the foregoing reasons, Mr. Watchman respect fully requests that the

Court dismiss the indictment in this case.

Respectfully submitted: December 19, 2008.

JON M. SANDS
Federal Public Defender

 s/Milagros A. Cisneros                   
MILAGROS A. CISNEROS 
Asst. Federal Public Defender 

Copy of the foregoing transmitted
by ECF for filing this 19  day th

of December, 2008, to:

CLERK’S OFFICE
United States District Court
Sandra Day O’Connor Courthouse
401 W. Washington
Phoenix, Arizona 85003 

DYANNE C. GREER
Assistant U.S. Attorney
Two Renaissance Square
40 North Central Avenue, Suite 1200
Phoenix, Arizona  85004-4408

Copy held for:

OZZY CARL WATCHMAN
Defendant

s/Milagros A. Cisneros                        
M. Cisneros 
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AFFIDAVIT OF KATHLEEN BOWMAN

STATE OF ARIZONA )
) ss:

County of Apache )

1. I, Kathleen Bowman, am Public Defender for the Navajo Nation.

2. On April 20, 2006, the Navajo Nation Council passed resolution CAP-20-06,

which enacted the Navajo Nation Sex Offenders Registration Act of 2005.

3. On July 19,2007, the Navajo Nation Council passed another resolution, CJY-20-

07, by which the Nation elected to carry out the requirements of the Adam Walsh Act within the

period for implementation by jurisdictions, pursuant to § 127(a)(l)(A) of that Act.

4. I am a member of the task force charged with implementing the Navaj o Nation Sex

Offenders Registration Act of 2005 in such a way that it will comply with the requirements of the

Adam Walsh Act.

5. As of this date, the Navajo Nation Sex Offenders Registration Act of 2005 has not

yet been implemented.

6. As of this date, the Navajo Nation has no sex offender registry.

/[^^C^^t.^dX-..^—^ ^-^-UJ^^u-^L..,,^
Kathleen Bowman

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me this 11 day of December, 2008, by
Kathleen Bowman. / - ^

^ 0 1
My Commission Expires:

NOmRY/WBLIC

OFFICIAL SEAL
JAYME PLATERO

NOTARY PUBLIC - State ol Arizona
APACHE COUNTY

My Comm. Expires July 20, 2009

^ > : 2 ^ ^ ^
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CJY-20-07

RESOLUl'ION OF THE
NAVAJO NATION COUNCIL

21^" NAVAJO NATION COtMCIL - First Year, 2007

AN ACTION

RELATING TO PUBLIC SAFETY AND INTERGOVERNMENTAL RELATIONS;
CONFIRMING THE NAVAJO NATION JURISDICTION OVER SEX OFFENDER
REGISTRATION AND NOTIFICATION FOR PURPOSES OF PUBLIC LAW
109-248, TITLE 1, THE ADAM WALSH CHILD PROTECTION AND
SAFETY ACT OF 200 6

BE IT ENACTED:

1. The Navajo Nation finds that it has exerted its
jurisdiction over the areas of sex offender
registration and notification through its passage on
April 20, 2006 of the Navajo Nation Sex Offender
Registration Act, Resolution CAP-20-06, attached
hereto as Exhibit "A".

2. The Havajo Nation finds that the United States
Congress on July 27, 2006 passed Public Law 109-248,
Title I, the Adam Walsh Child Protection and Safety
Act of 2 00 6 (Adam Walsh Act) , which contains a Section
127, Election by Indian Tribes.

3. The Navajo Nation finds that the Adam Walsh Act,
without proper consultation with the Navajo Nation or
other federally recognized Indian Nations, provides
for state jurisdiction to assume responsibility for
maintaining and managing a sex offender registration
on behalf of the Indian nations and arbitrarily
removes Indian nations, including the Navajo Nation,
from monitoring sex offenders within their own
jurisdictions if they do not expressly affirm their
intent to implement the requirements of the Adam Walsh
Act.

4. The Navajo Nation, by enacting the Navajo Nation Sex
Offender Registry Act, while not specifically stating
that it intends to implement the requirements of the
later-passed Adam Walsh Act, has clearly expressed its
desire as a sovereign Nation to protect individuals
within the territorial jurisdiction of the Navajo
Nation from sexual predators.
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CJY-20-07

5. The Navajo Nation finds that the provisions of Section
X27{a)(l)(A) of the Adam Walsh Act require Indian
tribes to adopt a resolution electing to carry ottt the
provisions of Subtitle A of Title X of the Adam Act.

6. The Navajo Nation hereby finds that the requirements
of Subtitle A of Title I of the Adam Walsh Act exceed
the current requirements of the Navajo Nation Sex
Offender Registration Act of 2006.

7. The Navajo Nation further states its intent to carry
out Subtitle A of Title 1 of the Adam Walsh Act within
the period for implementation by jurisdictions set
forth in said subtitle,

8. The Navajo Nation hereby expressly reaffirms its
intent to fully implement all of the applicable
requirements of the Adam Walsh, Act and wholly rejects
the idea that any state may be authorized, without
proper consultation, and contrary to the Navajo Nation
government-to-government relationship with the United
States Government, to exercise this type of
jurisdiction within the Navajo Nation.

9. The Navajo Nation further states its expectation that
the United States Congress will address the unfunded
mandates of the Adam Walsh Act by appropriating
adequate funds directly to the Navajo Nation and other
Xndian nations to fund the full implementation of the
Adam Walsh Act. The Navajo Nation continues its
opposition to the appropriation of funds to the sundry
states for later allocation to the Navajo Nation and
other Xndian nations. This results in the decrease of
funding to the Navajo Nation and other Indian nations
and is inconsistent with the government-to~governiaent
relationship with the United States Government.

10. The Navajo Nation hereby directs the Office of the
President and the Division of Piiblic Safety to
immediately apply for any funds which are made
available through the Adam Walsh Act, and any other
federal source, for the purposes of developing and
implementing the Navajo Nation sex offender
registration and notification system.
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Cjy-20-07

CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify that the foregoing resoltitioft was
duly considered by the Navajo Nation Council at a dvily
called meeting in Window Rock, Navajo Nation (Arizona) at
which a quorum was present and that the same was passed by

th day of Julya vote of 54 in favor and 0 opposed, this 19
2007.

an, Speaker
ftouncil

Motion; LoRenzo Bates
Second: Peterson Yazzie
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CAP-20-06

RESOLUTION OF THE
NAVAJO NATION COUNCIL

20^" NAVAJO NATION COUNCIL - Fourth Year, 2006

AN ACT

RELATING TO PUBLIC SAFETY, AND JUDICIARY; ENACTING THE SEX
OFFENDERS REGISTRATION ACT OF 2005; AMENDING TITLE
SEVENTEEN OF THE NAVAJO NATION CODE

BE IT ENACTED:

Section 1. Enactment of the Title 17 General Provisions and
Offenses Amendment Act of 2005

The Navajo Nation Council hereby enacts the Sex
Offenders Registration Act of 2005.

Section 2. Purpose

The purpose of the Sex Offenders Registration Act of
2005 is to require persons convicted of sexual offenses in
the Navajo Nation Courts or courts of other jurisdictions,
who live, work, or attend school within the Navajo Nation,
to register and maintain registration as a sex offender
with the Navajo Nation, or face sanctions including the
revocation of probation or parole, or the reporting of non-
registration to other jurisdictions, or both.

A. The Navajo Nation Council hereby directs that al l
Navajo Nation branches, divisions, departments,
offices, programs and other tribal entities to
cooperate to the fullest extent possible to develop
an integrated criminal justice information system,

B. It is further directed that al l technology groups
coordinate with the Department of Information
Technology and help facilitate the development of
the integrated criminal justice information system.

C. The Navajo Nation Council further directs that the
proposed criminal justice information system be
submitted for approval by the Navajo Nation Council
no later than six (6) months.
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CAP-20-06

Section 3. Amendments to Title 17 Navajo Nation Code

The Navajo Nation Council hereby amends the Navajo
Nation Code, Title 17, as follows:

§ 220. Criteria

******

P. Sex Offender Registration and Reporting.

1. All Navajo Nation , court sentences for

convictions, qiailty pleas, pleas of nolo contendre/

and all conditions of probation and parole for'

violations of sexual offenses shall recruire that the

offender register, and maintain registration, as a sex

offender with the Navajo Nation Chief of Police.

2. All persons who have been convicted, or

entered guiltypleas or pleas of nolo contendre to

crimes constituting sexual offenses, by Navajo Nation

Courts or the courts of another jurisdiction, and who

reside, work, or attend school within the Navajo

Nation shall register, and maintain registration, as a

sex offender with the Navajo Nation Chief of Police.

This registration shall include:

a_̂  a copy of each judgment of the

court finding the person guilty of a sexual

offense; and

b. a copy of the probation or parole

order relative to each sexual offense committed^

including all conditions of probation o^ P^^^^'^-1

arid
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CAp-ao-os

c. the physical address of the

residence of the sex offender; and

. d. the physical work address of the

sex offender; and

e, the physical address of the school

attended by the sex offender.

f, the census nxxmber and current

photograph of the sex offender.

3. All sex offenders shall maintain their

registration with the Navajo Nation Chief of Police by

reporting any additional or changed infonaation set

forth in siibsection (D) (1) above to the Navajo Nation

Chief of Police within ten days of any change

affecting such information.

4. The Navajo Nation Chief of Police shall

provide written notice to:

a. a l l District Commanders within the

Department of Law Enforcement and all Navajo

Nation Chapter(s) in vhich the offender resides,

in addition to all Navajo Nation Chapters (s) in

which the offender resides, or works, or attends

school; and

b. all print and broadcast media

outlets which provide news coverage to all Navajo

Nation Chapter(s)in which the offender resides,

in addition to all Navajo Nation Cha.pters(s) in

which the offender resides, or works, or attgrids_

school,
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CAP-20-06

5, Failure by a sex offender to register, or

maintain registration, as a sex offender shall be

conclusive evidence of breach of conditions of

probation or parole contained within any Navajo Nation

court order and require that any such probation or

parole be revoked. Any failure to register, or

maintain registration, as a sex offender by a sex

offender whose sexual offense conviction was issued by

the court of another jurisdiction shall be reported,

in writing, to that jurisdiction by the Navajo Nation

Chief of Police.

Section Four. Codification

The provisions of this Act which amend the Navajo
Nation Code shall be codified by the Office of Legislative
Counsel. The Office of Legislative Counsel shall not
finalize a recodification or suppleinent_ of the Navajo
Nation Code which does not incorporate such amendments.

Section Five. Savings Clause

Should any provisions of this Act be determined
invalid by the Navajo Nation Supreme Court, or the District
Courts of the Navajo Nation, without appeal to the Navajo
Nation Supreme Court, or any other court of competent
jurisdiction, those portions of this Act which are not
determined invalid shall remain the law of the Navajo
Nation,

CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify that the foregoing resolution was
duly considered by the Navajo Nation Council at a duly
called meeting in Window Rock, Navajo Nation (Arizona) at
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which a quorum was present and that the same was passed by
a vote of 63 in favor and 0 opposed, this 20*̂** day of April
2006,

Lawrence T. Mbrga^, Speaker
Navajo NationrCouncil

Motion; Ernest Hubbell
Second: Larry Anderson, Sr.

ACTION BY THE NAVAJO NATION PRESIDENT:

I hereby sign into law the foregoing
legislation, pursuant to 2 N.N.C.
§1005 (C) (10) , on this day

APR 2 6 200g

1.

2006.of

President
Navaj o Natxon

the foregoing
nt to 2 N.N.C.

§1005 (C) (11) , this day of
2006 for the reason(s)

expressed in the attached letter to
the Speaker.

I hereby veto
legislation^ pursu;

2 ,

Joe Shirley, Jr. ,, President
Navajo Nation
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